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' IN THE FEDERAL HIGH COURT OF MIGERIA
IN THE LOIOIA JUDICIAL DIVISION
HGLEEN AT LOKGIA |
O MONDAY, THE 24™DAY OF HOVEMBER, 2016
: LEFORE THE HOMOURABLE JUSTICE PHOEBE M. AVUA
| JUDGE '
| CSUET WO: FHC/LKI/CS/35/2015
EETWEERN:
Lo HIPPO COMPANY NIG. LTD. |vvverveeeeereneens PLRINTIFFS/
2.  HIPPO OUIL AND GAS LTD COUMTER DEFERNDANTS
Vs
LOWER NIGER LiIVLr ! BASIH DEFENDAMT/COUNTER
CEVELOPMENT AU humn Y o o CLATMARNT JUDGE -
| | FEDERAL HIGH COURY
JUDGEMENT LOKOJA
Thiz judgement relates o the action instituted by the Plaintiffs Ly W’Iy of

Writ of Surmmons, dated the 05/05/2015 and filed on the same date, The
writ was issued on behalf of the Plaintiffs by Sarm Akaji, Esq., of Sarm Akoji

& Co. Adawn Law House) Lobongoma, Lokoja.

The wiit was accompanied by a Siatement of Claim, Staterment on Oath of
the Plaintifis” witness and list of witnesses, list of Jocuments to be relied

upon and copies of the documents listed. Upon being served with the
Plaintiffs" processes, the Defendant entered a conditional appearance and

filedd & Staternent of Defence and Counter-Clairn clatml fthe 06/07/15. The
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Defendant also filed a Statement an oath of each of their Ewo withesses

i

and other accompanying documents.

At the endorsemsznt on the writ and in the Statement of Claim, the

Plaintiffs clair against the Defendants as follows:

1.

NI

An Qrder of this Honourble Court for payment of the sum of
N32,175,000.00 (Thirty Twa Million, One Hundred and Seventy Five
Thausand Naira) being the outstanding contract sum as follows:

a. The sum of N9,500.000.00 (Nine Million, Five Hundred Thousand
Maira) being the value of the Anlpa Tc»wnfhir» Froject which s
100% completed and handed over to the Dcf*ndant

b. The sum of N1,425,000.00 (One Million, Four Hundred and
Twenty Five Thousand Naira) which s representing  15%
mobilization payment for the commencament of the Abejulolo

Community Prc )]f:l..L

[l

The sum of N21,250,000.00 (Tw~nty One MI”IHI') Two Hundred
and Fifty Thousand Naira) being ihe cutstanding contract sum due
to the 2" Plaintiff.

- An Order of this Honourable Court for the sum of M5,000,000.00

(Five Million Naira) to the Plaintiffs for damages/inflation for the

delayed payment.

- The payment of the sum of M2,000,000.00 to the Plaintiffs being

legal/professional fees incurred in prosecuting this action.

4. The cost of ﬁ“l'.lg and maintaining this action. S E’E‘;E“:f"'—j
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The hearing of this case commenced on the 02/02/2016. The Plaintiffs

ds i N - . — » - -
ealled a lone witness, Prince Abdullahi Adejo Obaje, a businessman, doing

—ut

the business of supply of water, drilling of boreholes for water, etc., whose
residential address is &t Tdah, Fogi State. The PW1 is the Chairman/Chief
Executive of the Plaintiffs. |
While testifying on oath, the PW1 stated that he had deposed [ a
statement on Gath dated the 05/05/2015 and an additional statement on
oath dated the 16/07/2015. He adopted the two statements on oath as his
evidence before this Court in this case. PW1 stated that he lnows the
Defendant in this case. FW1 tendered the documents listed below and all
of them were admitted in evidence. The documents are:
1. Exhibit P1 - Constituency Wél:er Froject  Agreement  daked 99
November, 2012,
2. Exhibit P2 -Letter dated 50 November, 2012, addressed to the
Managding Director of the Defendant captioned; “Acceptance Letter of
Contract Award”

2. Exhibit P3 — Letter of the 2™ Plainkiff to the Defendant dated the

12/01/2008, captioned “Accepiance Letter”,

4. Brhibit P4 — Letter to the Chairman/CEQ of the 2" Plaintiff by the
Defendant, dated the 06/09/2012.

5. Exhibit PS5 - Letker of the Defendant to the MD/CEO of the 1%
Plaintiff, dated the 22/10/2012, (Award of Contract).

6. Exhibit P& — Photocopy of letter dated the 28/12/2007 (Letter of

Award of Cantract o 2" Plaintiff).
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7. E-hibit P7A - Letter dated the 25/06/2014 an the letterhead of Sam

= AKQ)i & oo, being letter of Demand for 1% Plaintiff,

5. Exhibit P7E — Letter of demand for 20 Plaintiff, dated 25/06/14, on
the letterhead of Sam Akoji & Co. |

9. Evhibit P2 -Feceipt issucd to the 2™ Plaingff by Sam Aloji & Co.,
dated the 29/10/14.

10. Exhibit P9 — Dacument titled “HANDING OVEFR/TAFING QVEFR
FROM HIPPO NIGERIA LIMITED TO OGODO COMMUNITY OF ANFFA
LOCAL GOVEPNMENT APEA FOGI STATE” in photocopy dated the
21/12/13.

11, Exhibit P10A - Certificate of Incorparation of the 1% Plaintiff,
dated the 18/9/1981.

12. Exhibit F10BE — Certificate of IncorI:u:»ravi:iq:;n of the 2™ Plaintiff,
dated the 17/05/2000.

The PW1 was then cross-eramined by the Defendani's Counsel, M. A.
Pello, Esq., under cross evamination, the PW1 stated that he became the
MD of the 1% Plaintiff when the company was incorporated in 1981, That
he was the MD of the 2™ Plaingff when the Company was incorporated in
year 2000. That since 1921 he had been the MD of the 1% Plaintiff and the
only one. That Exhibit P1 is the Agreement between the 1% Plaintiff and the
Defendant and that the two persons that witnessed the sealing of that
agreement: were Odediran T. H., as the Managing Director. The PW1 was
asled to read paragraph 1.1(2) at page 3 of the Exhibit P1 as wall as
paragraph 2.9 of page’'s of the same Exhibit P1, and he did. PW1 admitted

that two documents were mentioned in paragraph 2.9, namaly:
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L. The letter of the Company (1% Flaintiff) giving written notice that
. they have complated the job.

. The Defendant ko izsue a Certificate of j::nb cc»rrq:»lei:ion If satisfied with

D

the job done.

PW1 stated that in practice, which practice he, PW1, met at the Defendant

was that whenever a Cantractor completad any job he would J0 and report
to the Defendant  verbally that the job has been completed and that the
Defendant would send its officials to go and inspect the job but would not
issue any certificabe of satisfactory job completion. That if the Defendant
was satisfied with the job, the Defendant wauld just pay by e-paymerit.
PW1 admitted that as stated at paragraph 2 of Exhibit P1 he agreed B
evecute the contract in terms of the agreement, Exhibit P1, and that
paragraph 2.9 of Exhibit P1, requires his company 1% Flainbff to issue a
notice of job completion.  He admitted that he did nor Jive written notice
of job completion, only a verbal notice and that he did not alsa receive any
certificate of job completion for the job done in re |u~rL ol the ather jobs
he did for the Defendant.  FW1 also agreed that at par agraph 2.13() of
Exhibit P1, there is an indemnity clause that the contractor shall defend at
itz own expense any law suit, claiming dermand of any nature or Find
arising from any of itz acte or omissions of its servants, agents or
representatives during the pendency of this agreement, etc. FW1 also
admitted  that paragraph 2.17 ab page 7 of Exhibit P1 talls abaut
“Preparation of Final Peport” bui that he, PW1, did not present any rinal
report of this project in Exhibit P1 o the Defendant as required 0Y
paragraph 2.17 aof Exhibit P1.
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PW1 was shown E-hibit PS, letter of contract award o 1% Plaintiff dated
22/10/12. He admitted that paragraph 4 of Exhibit PS5 states that “the
contract will be adminisiered in accordance with the terms, conditions and

specifications contained in the agreement”,

[y

That paragraph 5 of Exhibit PS stakes that he was cpeched o sign a
confract - agreement with the  Adthority, the Defendant, before the
commencement of the Project and to liaise with the Legal Unit for the
signing of the relevani agreement. PW1 was alsa shown paragraphs 2
and 4 of Evhibit P6 — Photocopy of letter of award of confrack o the 2

Plaintiff. PW1 admitted the content of paragraph 2 of E-hibit P6 but said

the agreement referred to in that paragraph was not before the Court and

that it must have been lost in transit.

PW1 was also shown Ehibit P9 — the “HANDING 'OVEF'./TAI-LING OVER
FROM HIPFO NIGERIA LIMITED TO OGODO COMMUNITY...”

PW1 stated that the persons listed in Exhibil P9 are Community People who
were handling the Project. That none of them is a staff of the Defendant
and that he would not know whether any ;:»f the Community members

listed in Exhibit P9 was an Engineer.

PW1 was alsa shown Exhibit P4 - lelter of the Defendant to the 2 Flaintiff,
dated the 00/09/2012. Ha replied thak the money he received through
Evhibit P4 were merited by his company because the Defendant’s officials
inspected the various levels of completion of the Project and paid as
appropriate.  PW1, however, admithzd that he did nok show o the Court
any document as evidence that he worked for the manay paid to him.
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PW1 was shown E-hibit P1 again and he admitted ihalt there was nothing
in paragraph 2.5 to indicate that a Committee for tale aver of the Froject

was to be set up.

PW1 was also shown E-hibit P7A and he admitted that ar page 1 thereof
reference is made to the handover of the Project to the Defendant and
evplained further that the handing over of the project [ the Commiunity is
the same as having aver the project to the Defendant, buk that he would
not say that the Community was the same as the Defendant. FW1
admitted alzo thal the Community members are ne b signatories o the

agreement between the Defendant and the 1% Plaintiff,

Under re-examination of PW1, he admitied that, Exhibit P7A al\'ncl Exhibit
P/E were letters written to the Defendant by his lawyer on his behalf and
that Exhibit P4 shows that the Defendant paid the PW1 the amount of
N14,750,000.00 but that the amount was not even sufficient payment for

the work the 2™ Plaintiff did for the Defendant.,

After the re-examination of PW1, the Flaintiif's Counsel applied o cloze the

Cas

ll’

of the Plaintiff. The Defendant’s Counsel did not cbject and applied
for a date for defence and also stated that  the Defendant was

conternplating resting her case on the case of the Plaintiffs,

At the ne-t aidju:»urne«:l date, baing the 12/04/2015, the Defence Counseal
submitted before the Court that the matter was supposed 6 be for
op2ning of the Dwfznr‘: but that after a review of the avidence of the
Plaintiffs, the Defendant has decided o rest her case on the case of the

o
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Plaintiff. He did not call any witness, He applied to clase the case of the
Defendant and his application was grantec. He then prayed the Court to
order for filings of writken addresses o enable the Counsel on both sides
come bacl on a set date to adopt the written addresses that will have been
filed.

The Plaintiffs’ CUUIU-'I objected o the application of the Defence Counsel
that the Court order filing of writken address, arguing that by Order 14 Rule
2 of the Federal High Court (Civil Pracedura) Pules, 2009, the Defendant
having closed its case without giving any evidence, there was no evidence
on the side of the Defendant for the Court ko review. That by implication,
the Defendant was in default of pleadings.  That the Defendant fil=d a
Statermnent of Defence and twa written Statemenis on Oath of two

witnesses.

That the said Statements on Oath, having not bean adopted, are deemed
fo have been abandoned and thus, there is no evidence upon which the
Plaintiffs can cross-examine the Defendant,

The Court relied on the provisions of Order 22 Fules 1, 2 and 3 of the

==l

Federal High Court (Civil Procedure) Fules, 2009, o overrule: the objection
of the Plaintiffs’ Counsel. The Court ardered the parties to file their written

L A

addresse

On the 23/09/2016, the Counzel for the parties adopbed their written

adclresses. The Plaintiffs” written address, dated the 04/05/2016, was filed
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on the same date, and served on the 24/06/2016. The Defendant’s written
address, dated the 27/06/2016, was filed on the 29/06/2016.
PLAINTIFFS’' SUBMISSION I SUPEFORT OF THEIR CASE
In the written address of learned Counsel for the Plaintiffs, three issues
wera formulated for determination, to wit:
. Whethar by the failure/refusal and or naglact or the Defendant to call
evidence in this matter. the Defendant should ho adjucged as having
na defence to the action and judgement should therarare be enterad

for the Flaintiffs accordingly?

R

Whether the Flaintiffs have proved by cradible evidence that the o) are

entitled to the reliefs saught in l/7c’ action.

=)

Whether the Defendant is not fable to pay the Plaintifs
damages inflation and legal professional foes? |
Issue 1

Whather by the failure refusal and. or neglact of the Defendant to ..:a//
evidence in this matter. the Dafendant should be adjudged as having
no defence to the action and judgement should thereiore be entered

for the Flaintiffs accordingly 7

Learned Counzel answered the above issus in the affirmative, He submitted
that failure or neglect of the Defendant to call avidence in this matter is a

clear manifestation that they do nob have any credible evidence to this

action. A S =
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v
He referred to the statement of Defence and submitbed that while at

LU

-~

paragraph 3 therzof, the Defendant averred that there was no contract

between the Plaintiffs and the Defendant, at paragraph - of the same
Staternent of Defence the Defendant tacitly admitted that there was a
contract between the parties for which consideration was furnished but
whether the contract was erecuted “at all” or “according ko specification”,
the Defendant would not Fnow. That ab paragraph 5 of the same
Statement of Defence, the Defendant admitbed paying 60% of the cost of
the Project “but that the 2™ Plaintiff did not eoecute the Froject at all”.
Learned Counsel submitted that all that is contrary to the Defendant’s
position, conveyad to the Plaintiff in Exhibit “P4”; the Plaintiff's letter of
06/09/2012, stating, inter alia. “the balance of 40% would only be paid on
confirmation of the completion of the project”. He argued that one can
only complete what had bean started. That, maorsaver, at paragraph 12 of
the Statement of Defence, the Defendant initially admitted the Fact that

the Plaintiffs are “long term customers of the Defendant”,

The Plaintiff's Counsel then submitied that the contradictions in the
Defendant’s statement of Defence are material and that this indicates that
they have nothing to hold in defence. That this accounts for why they are
shiclding the witnesses from adopting their siatements so that they would

not face the fire of cross examination.

‘.

Learned Counsel submitied that, the Plaintiffs had, in proof of their case

called a lone witness and tenderzd twelve documents before clasing their
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case. That the Defendant elected, on their part, not B call evidence but to
“rest their case on that of the Plaintiffs. That even though the Defendant
had, on the 06/07/2015, filed a statement of Defence and twa statemeants
on oath of Pasaq 'unle Pahaman and Joseph Foluso Olawole, the
Defendant chose to abandon the same by refusing to call the two
witnesses to aclcq:#l: their statements on oath and be cross-examined. It
was the submission of Counsel that it is trite that the said pleadings filed
by the Defendant on the 06/07/2015, which the Defendant abandoned,
does not constitute evidence, He relied on the Supreme Court case of
ATVEOLA v, PEDRO (20144 WEM 1 at 17 and the Court of Appeal case
of ACTION CONGRESS OF NIGERIA v. MARRISON (2012) 22 WRN 75
at 2. Otherwise, cited in support of the above point are:

o AFEWAIL MICROFINANCE BANK LTD. V. SEACOS (NIG.) LTD. (201 27

WRN 23 at 86 Ratio 1.

e AMACHIE V. INEC (2003) 10 WPN 1 at &9 Patio 45.

= LADOTUN v. OYEWLIMI (2002) 35 WPN 52 at &2,

= MOEIL PROD. (NIG.) UNLIMITED v. UDO (200%) 36 WFN 53 at 66.

Learnad Counsel urged the Court not to male any finding on the
averments in the Statement of Defence since they are nob hacked by
evidence, the Statements on Oath having been abandoned by the
witnesses. That such abandoned averments must be struck out by the
Court. That the implication is that the matber is undefended, the

Defendant having no evidence to be considered.
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Furthermore, learned Counsel submitted that the D:elferuzlanl:’s witnesses’
‘Statements an Oath having not been adopted by them, cannot be treated
as affidavit evidence ar any form of evidence ai all, He relied on the cases
of SPLINTERS (NiG.) LTD. v. OASTS FINANCE (LT5.) (2013) 145 at
155. MBANEFO v. MOLOK WU (201-) 15 WFN 35 ai 16, OKONKWO v.
KANO AGR. SUPPLY CO. LTD. (2013) & WFN 69 at 72-73; JIMOH V.
AYANDOYE (2012) 26 WPMN 22 &t 39 Fatio 5, MCW v, INEC (SUFPA).

Learned Counsel urged this Honourable Court to hold that the Defendants
having nat given evidence in support of their p cadings are deemed to
have accepted the facts adduced by the Plaintiffs notwithstanding their
general traverse and toorely on the unchallenged and unconbroverted

evidence of the Plaintiffs in this matter.

In addition, it was the submission of Counssl that the action of the

Defendant in calling no evidence is tantamount ty admission. That this

implies that the entire evidence of the Plaintiffs withess contained in the
Statemznt on Oath dated the 05/05/2015 and Additional Statement on

Oath daked the 16/07/2015, having nok been challenged by the Defence,
is deemed to have been admittzd. He submitted that it is frite that a fact
which is admitted needs no further proof and the same would be talken as
establishad. He stated that the Defendant is bound by the evidence called
by the Plaintiffs which amaunts to admission. He relied on the case of

IDOGHOR v. IDOGGHOR (2014) 14 WRN 164 at 163,

Learnad Counsel also submitted that the Court is to reskrick itself to

pleadings filed_by the parties and evidence adducad in suppart of the
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same to make findings on issues in contraversy and relied on the case if

ADETULE v. ADETULE (2015) 32 WPN 37 at -1,

Again, it was the submission of Counsel thai the Court is duty baound to
consider the totality of the evidence lad by each party and then place it on
an imaginary scéle of justice o see which of the two sides of the scale of
justice it is tiltihg to. He cited in aid, the case of LASGA v. SARURMA
(2005) 50 WRY 52 at 75. He alsa subwmitted that this Court can anly
erverdize this duty of considering evidence before it in favour of the
Plaintiffs az the Defendant has no evidence befare this Court. That the
scale of justice here is one sided and so must naturally tlt on the side of

the Plaintiffs.

Learned Counsel arqued that the submission of Counsel, no matter how
brilliant cannot be a substitute for credible evidence, He relied on the case
of JOSHUA v. 4LF(2015) 32 WFN 77 &t 90.
He further argued that the Defendant’s Counsel's submission in writken
address can naver be substituted for evidence as arguments of Counsel in
written acdress must be based on facts established by the evidence on
record by the parties themselves; but that thers is no evidence an record

for the Defendant.

Az regards the Counier Claim of the Defendant, learned Flaintiffs’ Counsel
submitted that the same was filed but also abandoned. That the Counter

Claimlsgaskaseless a5 the Statement of Defence hence it was
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abandoned. That a Counter Claim is an independent and distine: acion
‘which necds b be distinctly proved. He relied an the case of FHE

KVWOABA v. OVELEFF(2013) 28 WFEN 97 at 102,

He argued further that, evidence having not been led on those facks raiced

in the Counter Claim, the said Counter Claim is bound to fail. This Court

was urged to so hold.

In conclusion on issue 1, learmed Counsel urged this Court to resolve issue
1 in favour of the ﬁlaintiffs and enter judgement as per the relicfs sought
in the Claim as the Claim has not been rebulkted by the Defendant.
Issue 2
Whether the Flaintiffs have proved by credible evidence that the ) e
entitled to the raliefs sought in the action.
Learned Counsel subrmitted that in a civil case such as the one in hand,
the general principle is that the Plaintiffs have the onus of proving that
they are entitled to the reliefs sought. That the Court, in consideration of
the rnal:tér, endages an imaginary scale of justice in order to detarmine in
whosze favour the scale tilks on a preponderance of avidence. That the
Plaintiffs have argued under issue 1 that the failure of the Defandant to
call evidence is an indication of the fact that the Defendant has no
meaningful defence to this action. That the scale of justice is only tilting
on the side of the Plaintiffs. That from the Statement of Defence, filed by
the Defendant, itis clear that the Defendant has no defance to the action.
That at paragraph 1 of the Statement of Defence, the Defendant allegedly

s
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denied paragraphs 1, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 15 and 19

“of the Statement of Claim.

That paragraphs 1, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 16 and 19 of the Statement of
Claim are purely documentary.  That the averments of the Plaintiffs in
those paragraphs are backed up by documents to confirm their position.
That Exhibits P2, P3, P4, P5, PG, P7A, FYB, PE, P9, PLOA and P10B are all
relevaint and prove the position of the Plainiiffs as averred in the
Statement of Claim. Learned Counsel illusirated that the fack that there
are letters of award of conbract issued to the Plaintiffs is covered by

E-hibits PS5 and PA. That the Plaintiffs accepted the various awards |

€]

proved by Exhibits P2 and P3. That the fact that mabilization/part
consideration was furnished o the 2™ Flaintiff is proved by Exhibit P4.
That the fact that the Plaintiffs are registerad companies is also coversd
by E-hibits P1OA and P10B. That the fact the Ca mmunity has taken over
the completed borehale is also covered by Exhibit P2, That the hiring of
Sam Akoji, & Co., o prosecute this case for the Plaintiffs is proved by

Evhibit P2 and that Exhibit F1, P2, P3, P4, PS and PG demonstrate that

there iz @ valid and subsisting contrack between the parties. That, on the
other hand, the Defendant has not put up by way of evidence any fact to
contradict or disprove the facks relating to this matter. That the cases

cited under issue 1 by the Flaintiffs’ Counsel to show the effect of failure
of the Defendant to call evidence in this matter are all relevant here. That
it is tr |t~ that documents tenderad and admitted in evidence in Court a

like words LIUf-'l (= wmd do speal: for themselves, He relied on OGUNDELE

.,
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5 ANCER v, AGIRT £ ANOR (2009) 12 5.C. (PL.1) 135. He argued that
even if the stabements on oath were to be adapred, the avidence will not
change the position of the Plaintiff case because documentary evidence
cannot be altered, modified or varied Ly aral evi(:lehce. He cited in aid the
caze of FEN PLC. v, WWADIALY & SORS LTD. (2015) 22 WFPN 103 at
125 and FERA v. KUDA ENGR, AND CONSTR, OO, LTV (201) 34
WRN 72 at 83.

Furthermare, learned Counsel argued that as for paragraphs 13, 14, 15,
17 and 18 of the Staterment of Claim which are not documentary, the

testimony of the Plaintiffs is credible and cught to be given evidential

weight in the assessment and/or conzsideration of this matker.  That from
the contradictory positions of the Defendant a5 shown in the averments at

paragragphs 2, 4, 5, 8, 10, 12, 12 and 15 of the Staterment of Defence, the
Defendant appears nok to have any records o fall back o on these
fransactions.  Learned counsel copied out paragraphs 4, 5, and & Porkion
of Evhikit P4 and pointed out the Defendant’s own contradiction. He then
relied on the case of AJONGE v, MWACHUIWY (2011) 16 WFPN 38 at
45, per Garba, JCA, to urge the Court ta reject the contradictory evidence

of the Defendant.

Learned Counsel alsa relied on Exhibit P1, a contract agreement executed
in respect of the 1% Plaintiff's contract with the Defendant, dated the
09/11/12 and submitted that the conbrack provides for how payment is to

be effectzd in clause 2.8 of the contract agreement.
oy TRyrp .
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That clause 2.8A provides for 15% maobilization while clause 2.8 provides
“for payment to the contractor on the basis of valuation of work avacubed.
That the Plaintiffs valuation or measure of worl done is 100% for the
Arlpa Township Project and 2™ Plainiiff's work: done is put at 95%. He
referred o paragraph 14 of the Statement of Claim. He also argued that
just as the Defendant ignared o issue a contract agrecment in respect af
the 2™ Plaintiff, the Defendant also filed to inspect and certify the work
that was done  despite  repeated  demands. That the Defendant’s
speculative position denying jusiification for payments to the ™ Plaintiff
because 2™ Plaintiff did not evecuie the Froject according to specification
or at all is expressed at paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Statement of Defance.
That the Defendant’s averments at paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Statement
of Defence are a reflection of failure on her part to parform  their
supervizory roles in the contract for which the Plaintiffs cannok be
responsible. That as at today, whether the Plaintiffs have ewecutad the
Project “at all” or “executed the project according b specifications”, the
Defendant does not bnow. That on the part of the Plaintiffs anc as averred

at paragraph 14 of the Statement of Claim, the Plaintiffs’ performance is

QU

assessed at 95% and that this has nob been countered or challenged by

the Defendants.

That the implication of the above, gaing by dause .8h of the Contract

Agrezment is that the 2™ Plaintiff is entitled to payment for the 95% of

the contract sum, having performed 95% of the contrack. That the 1%

Plaintiff is also entifled to 100% payment in respect of the Ankpa

Town5}7:4‘[ﬁf—iﬁ@ylfgjch i5 fully performed and delivered.
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- Learnad Counsel, maintained that from the evidence adduced at trial, the
Plaintiffs have been able o prove that there evists between the Plaintiffs
and the Defendants a valid and subsisting contract for the construction of
- two complete package constituzncy waier projects at Anlpa township and
Abejul-alo community and drilfing of twao boreholes in complete paclkage at
Efin Community and Ulaja Community for which part consideration was

furnished.

Learned Counsel relied on the definition of contract, in the case of EAMORT |
v. ESURU (2013) 4 WPN 99 at 94 and submitted that the five ingredients
of a valid contract are present in the contrack between the two parties
herein. They are:

1. Offer

2. Acceplance | mm"~
3. Consideration FEDERAL HiGH COURT
4. Intention to create legal relationship L H-‘QK@J,E’; ‘.E,J

5. Capacity to contract.
That the Plaintiffs, in proof of their claim, showed thess five basic

ingredients in the contract between them and the.!Z)efem:lant. He cited the
supreme Cowrt case of EILANTE FNTERNA rIONAL LTD. v. M.O.I.C

(2012) 3 WRN I ar & and submitted that from the evidence led,

documentary evidence tendercd and accepted by the Court and oral
testimony in line with pleaded facts by the Plaintiffs, it is clear that a

binding contract exists between the Flaintiffs and the Defendant for which

L ™
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the Plaintiffs seel enforcement of the same. He cited in support, the case
» of OGUNDELE & ANOR v. AGIFI & ANCR (2009) 12 S.C. (PT.1) 135.
He submitted in conclusion under issue two that a thorough review of
theze documents, Exhibits before the Caurt, reveal that the Plaintiffs have
a prima facie case against the Defendant and for this reason, the Cc»ui't be
urged to resolve issue 2 in favour of the Plaintiffs.
Issue 3
Whether the Defendant s not fiable (o pay the Flaintifrs
damages/inflation and legal/professional rees?
Learned Plaintiffs” Counsel submitted that in pursuance to the contract
between the plaintiffs and the Defendant and due to non-release of funds
by the Defendant in compliance with the terms of the contract, the Plaintiff
had to source for alternative means of funding in order to compleke the

projects, so as not to lose what was an ground.,

That this albernative source of funding was ai an interest rabe of 20% per
annum. That the Plaintiffs had made several demands on the Defendant
for the payment of the outstanding contract sum but the Defendant has
neglected and/or refused B opay. He relied an the case of ENLANTE
INTERNATIONAL LTD. v. M.D.LC. (supra) where the Supreme court
held that "Damages follow breach of contract and is payable by the party

responsible for the breach”,

He argued further that the essence of damages is ka compensate the

successful party for the loss incurred in the litigation.  That the position of
the law_is-that costs follow evenis and that a successful party should not
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" be deprived of costs. He relied on the case of MASTER HOLDING (NIG.)
CLTD. & 3 OR. v, ENEXA OIEFIENA (2011) & WRN 50 at 54. He

submitted that the Plaintiff has incurred losses as follows:

. Legal/Professional fess of his Solicitors.

b

b. The cost of filing and maintenance of this action.

. The lnsses associated with time such as nconveniences and inflation.

(@)

d. Cost of borrawed funds to e-ecute the contract,

That the Plaintiff should be entitled b costs including but nok fimited o
professional fees, the cost of filing and maintaining of this action and cost
of funding. He relied on the cases of WASTER HOLDINGS (NMIG.) LTD.
v. NWANDU (2011) 33 WPN 50 ak 76-77 and ADVERT-ANGE LTD. v.

ESCADE VENTURES LTS, (2013) 46 WRN 172,

In conclusion, learned Counsel urged this court to resolve issus 3 in favour
of the plaintiffs and to hold that the plaintiits  are  entitled o
damages/inflation of the surm of NSm for the delayed payments and the
sum of N2m being legal/professional fees as (3|'|‘:|‘:»|;sta«j in the staterment of
daim, more sa that this is not contested as by the Defendarnt,
LEFERDANT'S ARGUMENT IN OPPISITION TO THE CLAIM OF THE
FLAINTIFFS.

Learned Counsel for the Defendant in his written acddress, submitked in the
“introduction” section thereof that this case ought o be decidad on the
pleadings, the evidence/aral and documentary, and the applicable law not
on Counsel’s fanciful éa,lbmissions which cannot tale the place of evidence.

That it is frite that Courts do not decids cases on mere conjecture or

s
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" speculation, being courts of facks established before them and law
. applicable o the subject. He cited in aid the case of CHH4 24SAYA v,
ANVWASE (2010) 10 NWLF (FT.1201) 162 at 159 pef FABT T, JSC and the
case of AGIP (NIG. ) LTD. v. AGIP PETROLT I TERRM TIONAL (2010)
5 NW;R (PT.1187) 348.

He urged the Court not b0 pay aitention o the fact of the case as related

by the Plaintiffs in their final written address.

Learned Counsel then raised three issues for the «‘:l«“:b‘:l‘ﬂ”nin.:—ntion of this
Court. They are:
1. Whether the Defendant’s failure to call her witnesses in support of he
Statzment  of Defence  automatically entitles  the  Flaintifis o
Juagement on their Claim?

2. Whether on the state of the pleadings. the evidence and the axtant
law. the Flaintiffs have proved their case against the Defendant as
required by law?

3. Whether the Defendant is entithed o judgemeht an her Counter
Claim?

Learned Counsel argued issues T and 11 together and answerad each in the
negative. He submitted that the Defendant’s case is a wholesale denial of
the Plaintiff's statement of Claim as can be gamerad from paragraphs 1-13
of the Statement of Defence. That the burden of proof is on the Plaindffs
to prave their case as averred in the Statement of Claim. He relied on
sections 131-133 of the Evidence Act, 2011 and the case of JRIFBULO v,
AKIBU (1932) 7 S.C. (Peprink) 29 at 42, He further sa_.lbmittecl that mere

averfpamis! ”V&’riffil"i;:gut praof of the facts pleaded in skatement of Claim are
/G ' S :
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not proof of the facts if the facts are nob admited in the statement of
Defence. That a Plainkiff is o rely on the strength of his own caze and not

on the wealness of the Defendant’s case. He relied on the following cases.

©

FEBSON FITNESS CENTPE v. CAFFA H. LTD. (2015) 6 NWLR

(PT.1455) 262 AT 284 C.

» ADEJUMO v. OLAWATYE (201-) 12 NWLF (PT.1421) 252 at 260 SC.

o OGOLO v. FUBAPA (2003) 5 SC 141.

> FAGBUAPRA v. AFTMNBAMI (2015) 6 NWLF. (PT.1455) 355,

o LIUATUONU v. ANAMEFA STATE GC)V[P[\IM[NT (2010) 6 NWLR 405
At 416, per TSAMIYA, JCA.

o OBAWOLE & ANOP v. WILLIAMS 2 ANOF (1u~m) 10 NWLF. (PT. 477)
146, Per BELGORE, JSC (as he then was).

» ADIGHIJE v. NWAOGU (2010) 12 NWLP (PT.1209) 419 at 45911-
46013, Per OGLINWUMIIU, JCA.

o ONIBLIDO v. AFIBU (SUPPA)

Learned Counzel maintained that the assertion of the Plaintiffs that the
Defendant abandoned his pleading does not automatically entitle the
Plaintiffs to judgement. That the Flaintiffs muse adduce Cogent and credible
avidence in support of their claim. He referred b the cazes of OLUYEDE

ACCESS EANK PLC (2015) 17 NWLF (PT.1459) 596 at 607, F-H; ORJIT
V. YGOCHURWY (2009) 14 NWLP (1161) 207 at 208, ODF v, IVALA
(200-H) 4 SC(PT.1) 20; INEANATHO v, CHICBERE £(200+) 7 SC (PT.11)
49 and OMISORE v. ARFGEBESOLA (2013) 15 NWLR. (PT.22) 205 and
322 Per OGLINEIYT, JSC and NWEZE, J5C at 231.

It was the submission of learned Counsel that the present case is on all
fours with the case of OMESL RE ¥. AREGBESOLY (supra) bacause in an

attempt_tarlisely qu(— the burden cast on them, the Plaintiffs called their
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lone witniess, Prince Abdullahi A, A, Obaje. That the teskimorn iy of the said
withess on the 0 2/02/16 was laced with falzehood. That the witness
adopted his Staterment on Dath of 05/05/2015 and Ads ‘lli‘mrnal Statement on
Oath of 16/07/2015 as his evidence after taling his oath in the witness
bov, That the witness, PW1, described himself as the Chairman/Chief
Executive Officer of the Plaintiffs. That PW1 was evtensively  cross-

eamined and the case of the Plaintiffs thoroughly discredited  anc
demaclished. That a review of the evidence of the withess would show that
the Plaintiff's case is fecble and incredible that no reasonable tribunal will
accord it any credit or can PW1 be regarded as a witness of truth in that
the evidence of the witness is full of inconsistencies and irreconcilable

material contradictions as follows:

1. That the PW1 testified in paragraph 1 of his Statement on Oath and
additional Stat=ment on Oath that he was the Chairman/Chicf

Evecutive Officer of the Flaintiffs and under crass evamination

('\)

ned 1o have been the Chairman/CEQ of 1% angd 2™ Plaintiffs since
Incarporation of either Company.  But that Exhibit P1, evecuted on
the 09/11/2012, was co-evecutad on behalf of the 1% Plaintiff by her
Managing Director, ODEDIPAN T. H., shawing that the claim of PW1
that he has been the Chairman/Chief Ewecutive Officer of the 15
Plaintiff since inception is not true. That the e:q:»lanatioru of PW1 that
ODEDIFAN T. H. was anly representing him on that accasion cannot
avail him as no oral evidence can be tendered to controvert the
contents of documents. He relied on SLUYEDE v, ACCESS BANK
P’Lf,g’;b%ggmi) gﬁ# bD" F-H.
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T 2. That PW1 testified at paraqraph 9 and 12 of his statement on oath
concerning a maobilization feé of 15% specified in each letter of
award and that only the 2" Plaintif was paid the mobilization,
whereas the fack is that only the 1% Plaintiff's Ietter of award (Exhibit
PS) alluded to such mobilization fee. That Exhibit PG addressed to

the 2™ Plaintiff has no such Provision.

3. That PW1 testified in paragraph 10 of his statzment on oath that in

(X}

compliance with clauss 2.5 of Exhibit F1, the Defendant set u'p a
Committee of Five (5) members of the community who were Jivern
the responsibility for the supervision and eventual managerment of
the project upon completion but then under Cross-examination he
admitted that the clause contains nothing about a committes o be
set up for taling delivery of the project and that none of the [Ersons
in Exhibit PO is & staff of the Defendant and that he would rob Fnow
if any of them was an Engineer. That Ehibit F2 shows that the so-
called Committee was unilaterally set up by the Plaintifis. That
procedure s contrary o Exhibit PL which PW1 tendered which
specified that the contractor has agrecd with the employer to
diligently execute the project in accordance with the terms set forth
therein, further |:»n:»vicling in clause 1.1(c) that “engineer” shall mean

the duly designated representative of the cmployer saddled with the

duty to supervise the project.
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. That PW1 testified in the paragraph 4 of E-hibit P7A that the Ankpa

Township Project has bean 100% completed and handed ovar to the
Defendant, but testified per contra in Exhibit P9 that the completed

project  was  handed  over to the Community  through its

representative, Abdul Augusting, by the contractor's representative,

N

h U Egene. That the PW1 also gave evidence vica voce under cross
aval wnuu« n that the persons over to whom the project was handead

have na relationship with the Defendant.

. That PW1 admitted under cross evamination that he had nothing o

show that the contracts were evecyted by the Plaintiffs or that

payment made to the 2™ Plaintiff was earnsd or justified — evidence

In proof of paragraphs 4, 5, and & of the statement of Defence.

The only explanation of PW1 far the failure o abide by the terms o
Evhibit P1is that it was not the practice of the Defendant ta enforce

such contractual provisions. That is a contradiction of clauses 2 -1,

..... v,

and 6 of Exhibit PS and destroys the Plaintiffs’

That PW1 also admitted under cross e =amination that he could not

remember whether any exvecuted  between  the

agreement . was
Defendant and the 2™ Plaintiff, while at paragraph 3 of E-hibit P7B
written by her Counsel ma

de reference to such contract evecutad on

o

2" day of April, 2008, That this piece of evidence is unreliable on

th«:y rn . )u&n- 3 uf s«#lf contradicrion.
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section '167 of the Evidence Act, 2011 on the 2™ Plaintifi’s failure to
fender the said agreement of 22/04/2008, on the ground that if
produced, the document would have been unfavourable to the 2N
Plaintiff.

Learned Counsel relied on the /atin maxim allegans contraria non est
audiendus (one who contradicts himsalf is not to be heard) and urged the
Court not o rely on the evidence of the Plaintiffs and their sole witness. He

cited in aid the cases of:

¢ EZEMBA V. IBENEME (2004) 7 S.C. (FT.1) 45 ak 56, Per Edoze, 15C
and ’ | ' |

« AYANWALE & OPS V. ATANDA & ANOF (195¢) 1 S.C. At 3-5, Per
OBASEKI, JSC.

¢ AZLUEUINE V. DIAMOND EANL. PLC (2014) 5 NWLR (FT.1393) 116.

o QLODO V. JOSIAH ~(2010> 12 NWLR (FT. 11) 510 at 517, PER FABIYVI,
JSC. |

o THANNI V. SHAIBU (1977) 2 SC. FEFPINT 46 at o4-05, Per
SOWEMIMO, JSC.

In addition, learnad Counsel submitted that the law is trite that parties
are bound by their pleadings and are o permitted o give évicence at
variance with their pleadings. He relied on 0/(.¢JAGEUE V. ROMAINE
(1232) 5 SC (FEPFINT) 66 at 73-75 Per, IDIGBE, ISC and MONIKSR &
2 ORS. V. ODILT (2009) 11 NWLF 212 at 203 Paraggaph 27, Per
OMOIFI, ICA, (5F blessed memiory). SUDGE
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He submitied that the PW1 is not entitled to the honour of credibility on
account of several confradictory pieces of evidence given on oath by
him and on material parts of their case. It was the submission of the
Counsel also that the quality or probative value of evidence given by a
party to a civil suit is determined by five factars as enunciaked by the
Supreme Cc»urt N ODOFIN v, MOGAFT (1973) 1 LPN 212 at 213 -,

Per Fatail-Williams, 1SC, (as he then was).

Learnad Counsal also referred Lo the cases of AMWANKWORLA v,

STATE (2006) 7 SC (PT.ILL) 1; ANYAWWY v. UZOWUAKA (2009) 13
NWLR (PT.1159) 445 at 456 D-F. | |

Learned Counsal argued that in the present case, the evidence adduced in
support of the Plaintiffs’ case does not have any probative value to warrant
any weight being awarded it. That the documents tendered in support of
the Plaintiffs’ case are rather in Support of the Defendant’s case. That
Evhibit P1 stated clear provisions in clauses 7.2 (2)ck) and (c) 2.9, 2.10,
2.11, 2.17(1) and 2.21 which impose specific obligations on the 1% Plaintiff

which the 1% Plaintiff did not satisfy.

He urged the Court to rely on the ocumentary evidence e.g. Exhibit P1 as
a hanger to assess oral testimony. He relied on LAWAL v, ADEBAYO
(2009); BFf GROUP CORPORATION v, BUREAU OF FUBLIC
CNTERPRISES (2012) 7 SC (PT.111) 1.

It was alsa argued that for a Flaintiff to succeed in an action for breach of

contract, as_.,vj';g"':fg"ﬁhé instant cass, he must establish that there was in
7 &
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evistence an enforceable contrack and that thers was performance of the
said contrack by him and breach by the Defendant. He relied on
EASINGTON ASHAYE v. Z8.A.G. ENT. (WIG.) LTD. (2011) 10 NWLR
(PT.1256) 479 at 525.

Learned Counsel submitted that the Flaintiffs are harping on failure to pay
without proving the edistence of the contract and performance of the
contract they want to enforce. That the Plaintiffs did not |:»|;«:»ve the
requirements of clauses 2.8(a)(b) and (), 2.9, 2.10, 2,11, 2.17(1), 2.21 of

Exhibit P1 to entitlz them to judgement,

This Court was then invited to hald that the Defendant’s failure to call her
witnesses o testify does not automatically  entidle the  Plaintiiis to
judgement and that the Plaintiffs have not proved their case against the
Defendant through the evidence tendered by them as the evidence was

discredited under cross-examination.

- That the Plaintiffs had & duty to prove their case against the Defendant but
that they failed o do s, despite the joinder of issuss with them in the

staternent of Defence.

Furthermaore, the leamed Counsel argued that the Flaintff's suit is 3 claim
for special damages which the law requires must be specifically pleaded
and strictly proved by credible evidence of such charé«:ter as would satisfy
the Court that the Plai'nl:iff IS5 indead entitled to the award of the same. He

relied on the fallowing cases.
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1. NGILAPI v. MOTHERCAT (1999) 12 SC (PT.II) 1 At 17.
. NEFA BE.B.E. MANUFACTURING CO. LTD. v. ACE LTD. (2004) 1 SC
(PT.1) 32 at 37, 53, 54 and 56
3. SHELL PETPOLEUM DEV. CO. LTD. v. TIEEO VII (2005) 3-4 SC 137
at 162,
4. ADIM v. NBC LTC. (2010) 3-5 SC. (PT. III) 155 at 169-171.

"

It was arguad that the evidence adduced by the Plaintiffs in this case is not
of such probative value and quality required to obtain judgement. That
despite paragraphs 2 and 3 of E-:hibit Po, the 2™ Plaintif had no
agreement exatubed o gavern the project evecution and thus did not
tender any. That the 1% Plaintiff that tendered Exhibit P1 completely lost
sight of clauses 2.3(a)(b) and () 2.9, 2,10, 211, 2.17(1), 2.21 thereof and
the recital to Evhibit P1 and therefore failed to attach on the agreement
and did not plead or tender any evidence of compliance “Bill of Engineering
Measuraments and Evaluation” az required. The Court was urged to hold

that the Claim has nnt been proved..

Learned Counsal also argued that |»Lnaqm| hs 4 and 5 of the Statement of
Defence are nat an admission but avermenis denying the Plaintiff's
execution of the contracts either at all, o in accordance ko speciiications
That in the face of that denial, the Plaintiff had the cluty to prove that the
relevant project was (1) execured and | (2) according o specification.  That
proof of evecution according o spedification entitles the  Plaintiff to
judgemnent for the contract sum buk proof of mere evecution without

accordance with specification may anly entitle the Plaintiff & damages on

quantum meruit. That there was na proof of either. That Exhibit P4 has
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nowhere shawn thak the job was commenced nor the fraction of the jol for
which payment was made. That the insinuation that “one can only
complete what had been started” is Counsel’s mere Fanciful canjecture in
written address as thers is no such evidence on record. That it is trite that
a brilliant address of Counsel on an issue dees not fake the place of
evidence. He raliad on the case of XOTUN v. OLASEWERE (2010) 1
NWLP. (PT. 1175) 411 at 436. That Courts of law do nob decide CaSes on
speculation and relied on LGP (NZ5.) LTD. v. AGIE PETROLE INT.L
(supra). That PW1 gave evidernce under oross wamination that he has
nothing to show that the paymeni made to the 2™ Plaintiff was otherwise
justified.  That this amounts to admission against self interest and the

Defendant need not rebut it. He cited in support, the case of JMISORE v.

It was the contention of learmed Counsal that, moreover, E:hibits P4 and
PS provide that formal agreements to be signed would govern the
contracts. That one was signad by the 2™ Plaintiff but nok endered, while
the 1 Plaintiff did not comply with its provisions in any respect, yet in
Exhibit P2 the Plaintiff, “accepted the conditions stated in (Defendant’s)
letter of affer”. That Exhibit P9 also shows that the purported project was
handed aver to the Community not o the Defendant as |‘equired by Exhibit
PL and averred in the Statement of Claim and in the oral evidence of PW1.
That having failed to prove their case, there was no justification for the
Plaintiffs to make reférence to the Statement an Qath of the Defendant’s

witnesses who did_not-show up to adopt them. It was submitted that the
f}/v :G rfg ",j - N‘\\\
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Plaintiff-s. cannot approbate and reprobate as the law cannot allow the
Plaintiff to, in one breath urge the Court to stribe aut the Statement of
Defence because no evidence was tendered in support thereof, and in
ancther refer to evidence which was never fendered through adoption by
the deponents. He referred to the dictum of Pats, Acholonu, JSC (of
blessed memory) in DUKE v. AKPABUYC LOCAL GOVERNMMENT (2005)
12 SC (PT.1) 1 at 4.

That the Plaintiffs submitted at page 12 of their writken address that the
Defendant pleaded at paragraph 3 of the Statement of Defence that thera
are no contracts between the Plaintiffs and the Defendant which is ot
true. That in any event, pleadings do no constitute evidence. That the
purported visit of Pasag Funle Pahman to the sites cannat be avidence
before this Court in the face of the evidence of PW1 under cross
evamination that he had nothing to show that the projects were executad
ar that the payment made to the 2™ Plaintff was justified. That there are
no requisite certificates of cornpletion of job to prove due execution of the
projects as provided in Exhibit P1. That the Plaintiffs should prove their

case before a consideration of the defence arises.

Learned Counsel also contended that the submission ar page 14 of the
Plaintiffs” wiitten address about the level of worl: done is fiable to be

discountenancad by this Court in that a Community reading of clauses 2.5

!
2.2, 2.9 and 2.11 of Exhibit P1 will show that the power [0 evaluate the
volume of waork doné is cearly vested in the Defendant and rot the 15

Plaintiff. That the prerdgative to inspect the project and give a pass marl:
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belongs to the Defendant whao is the employer and e pected to pay for the

job.

The Court was urged o resolve these issues in favour of the Defendant

against the Plaintiffs.

Issue Il
Whether the Defendant is not entitled to Judgement on her Counter-
Claim.
Learned Counsel submitted that this issue ought to be answered in the
affirmative and resalved in favour of the Defendant. That the 2 Plaintiff
had proved under cross-examination that she had nothing to show for the
sum of N14,750,000.00 paid to her by the Defendant. That this goes to
prove the _Defencla'nt’s averment at paragraph 5 of the Statement of
Defence and paragraph 2 of the Counter Claim, He relied on ODI v.

IVALA (supra), per TOBIL, JSC at pages 32-33.

It was the further submission of Counsel that since the 2™ Flaintff had
admitted that the sum of N14,750,000.00 was paid to her and that she has
nothing to show for the payment. That it is trite that admirted facts are no
longer issues between the parties and require no further proof. That the
Defendant’s claim for refund For failure of consideration is therefore made
out and requires no further evidence from the Defendant, He cited in aid
JITTE V. OKPULOR (2016) 7 NWLF (FT.1497) 542 ak 567 (SC). This
Court was urged ko resolve Tssue I11 against the Flaintiffs and grant the
Counter-Claim. /r‘;ﬁﬂ% |
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Learned Counsel submitted, On the Flaintiffs’ Claim for damages and legal
fees, that those claims are nok made out either in law ol In equity. That the
Plaintiffs pleaded at paragraph 15 of their statement of Claim that they
sought alternative means of funding to complete the projects at 20%

interest rate per annum.

That the same averment was repeated at paragraph 16 of the Statement

on Oath of PW1, withaut any details of the lender , the date and amount of
the Ioan, the security given, the loan agraement entered with the lender,
etc.

That at paragraph 9 of the Statement of Defence, the Defendant denies
that any money was borrawed. That the Plaintiifs have the burden to
prove that a loan was oblained which they failed to do. He relied on»
OLUYEDE . ACCESS BANIK PLC. (supra) and NATIONAL
UNIVERSITIES CORIMIE SSION V. ALLT (2013), Per UWA, JCA. That
the Plaintiffs’ failzd to prove the case they Brought to Court as such they
cannot Claim for the  professional/legal cost of prosecuting  the suit
especially in the face of clause 2.13(i) of Exhibit P1. He urged the Court to
so hold.

PLAINTIFFS' REPLY O POINTS OF LAWY,

In their Peply on Paints of law to the Defendant’s final written address, the
Plaintiffs’ Counsel submitbed thar by stating that the “case aught to be
decided on the pleadings, the evidence (oral and documentary) and the
applicable law, not on fanciful submissions. " the Defendant has admitted

that the case is tpbe-determined on the plezadings, evidence and applicabla
»\E\—‘ TR ™
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law, whereas, the Defendant has no pleadings or avidence before this

Court, having abandoned their pleadings.

Learned Counsel submitted that it is trite that what is admitted requires no
further proof and that the Defendant has shab itself in the foot by this
admission. That the Plaintiffs’ case is not one of mere averments but a
case supported with evidence, oral and dacumentary. That the Plaintiff
pleaded and tendered 12 documents in support of their Claim. That the
alzo called a Wltﬂ':‘:-': who testified and gave evidence, That documents
when tendered and admitted speak for themselvas, He relied on the case

of YVARO v. MARNYU (2014) 526 WRH 42 at 62

It was the submission of learned Counsel that it is clear from the evidence
before the Court that the Plaintiffs were awarded contracts by the
Defendant, that they performed their o sligations under the contracks and
the Defendant has refused or failed o pay for the services rendered to

them.

Learned Counsal contended that the De endant, in support of its position ko
abandon their pleadings/evidence, relied an the rases of UJUATUONU v.
ANAMERA STATE GOVT. (2010) (supra), OMISORE v. AREGEE SOULA
(2015) (supra) and AVANWALE & 5 ORS v. ATANDA & ANOR
(1988)(supra) whereas these cases are distinguishablza from the instant
case in that they all have multiple Defendants. That in the case & in hand,

the' Defendant Js—only one and having abandoned their pleadings, the
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- imaginary scale of justice must therefore Gt in favour of the Plaintiffs. That
again, in thoze cases, the evidence of some of the other Defendarts
proved the cases of others who saw no need oo give further evidence,
That the case of ORJIT v. 8GO CHUKWU (2009) 14 NWLR (PT.1161) 207,
cited by the Defendant’s Counsel at page o of their written address
supparts the case of the Plaintiffs. That in that case, the Court of Appeal
gave twa conditions that may entitle the Defendant to judgement even
without pleadings. They are:
L. Whara the Plaintiff fails to call evidence on the material fac s of the
case or the Plaintiffs evidence is s0 unreasonable that no reasonable

tribunal can accept his evidence.

document through the Plaintiff's withess dastr oys and discredits the

Plaintiff’s case.

Learned Counsel submitted that neither of these conditions apply in the
present case. That the Plaintiff's case so reasonable and believable., That
tha Defendant also failad to tender any document through the Plaintif’s

witness in destruction of their case.,

Furthermors, learned Counsel referred to the case of OLOGDO v. JCSIAH
(2010) 12 NWLP (PT.11) 510 at 517, cited by the Defendant at page 12 of
their written address and submittad that it is not applicable in the present

case. That the princ ipk= that the Plaintiff cannot rely on the weakness of

‘.

the Defendant’s case is strictly applied in cases of dec aration of title to
land. That in the, O ODO cazz the Appellant and their mtncqqes gave a
;,f/
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cdnﬂicting history of the Appellants’ root of titde o the land, the subject

matter of the dispute, but that thers is no such disputs in the instant case,

It was also the submission of Plaintiffis’ Counse! that Hhe case of ODOFIN
V. MOGAJI (1978) supra, cited by the Defence Counsel actually supports
the case of the Plaintiffs.  That the Defendant admits that it has no
evidence o be  weighed, having abandoned  their pleadings.  That

judgement must therefore be entered for the Plaintiffs,

Learned Counsel also submitted that it is not correct as submitted by the
Defendant in its final written address that there are contradictions in the
evidence of the Plainkiff. That the Plaintiff's testimony in the Statement on
Oath to the effect that he is the Chairmar and Chief Executive of the
companies still stands. That there is nothing wrong in Mr. Qdediran T. H.
being the Managing Directar of the same company, as the PW1 gave
evidence that he is the Chairman/Chisf Executive Officer of the Companies

and nat the MD of the company.

It was also argued that the testimony of PW1 at paragraphs 9 and 2
regarding mobilization of 15% has nothing to do with inconsistency. That
if Evhibit P& had no such provision and the 2™ Plaintiff is mabilized, that
would not amaount o inconsistency.  That, afterall, clause 3 of the said
Exhibit P& provides that:

Other relevant documents and informaticn requirad for the execution

of the contract projects wauld be delivered. | to the Plaintiff by the
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Executive Director. That 15%  mabilizatior 15 one of the other

relevant information requirad and that this was paid to the Plainiff,

It was also submitted thak Exhibic F9 s 3 relevant document which was
pleaded and with no objection by the Defence, was admitted in evidence,
That whether it was not in compliance with clause 2.5 of Exhibit P1 of not
does not amount o contradiction, but, probably, raises the question of the

weight to be attached to it,

Learned Counsel also contended that the practical approach s that,
borehcle projects, when completed are handed over to Ieaders of the
benefitting communities. That the action of the Plaintiff in handing over the
barzhales to community leaders was in compliance with the directive of the
Defendant. That it is at the cammencement of the contract that these

leader

7]

are shown the siting of the Project which is determined by the
contractors (the Plaintiffs herzin) and principal (the Defendant herein),
That if the Defendant had testified, the Court would have been in the
position to confirm that the action of the Plaintiifs is on the instruction of

the Defendant. That there is, therefore, @ contradiction, therein.

It was also argued that the Defendant failed to issue a certificate of
performance/valuation, but that nothing stopped the Defendant from
inviting the Court to the locus to cee the project if they assert that the
contractors did not evecute the contract. That the PW1 had answered in a

re-evamination question that the Payment made so far for that project was

not enough for the jobs evecuted. That the re-examination was to clear the
‘“_,,-f . ) . .
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ambiguity that the payment made to the Flaintiff was justified. That

there is no issue of contradiction there.

In addition learned Counzel contendad that it is not true that the Plaintiffs
witness proffered explanation for their failure o abide by the terms of
Evhibit P1. That the testimony of the Plaintiffs under that heading was
direct and positive, pointing, unambiguously, o the fact that the Defendant
abdicated in  their responsibility to issue valuation certificate to the

Plaintiffs. That this cannot armount ko contradiction.

In further response to the Defendants final written address, it was
subrnitted that the fact that offer and acteptance were concluded and part
consideration furnished on this contract is not in doubt. That execution of
AN agreement is not an absolute requirement for a contract to be binding
on the parties. That section 167 of the Evidence Act, 2011 was quoted out
of conkext by the Defendant in that there Is averwhelming evidence of the
fact that the Defendant is indebted to the Plaintiffs in respect of this

matter.

That assuming but not conceding that there may have been minor
inaccuracies and the discrepancies in the testimony of PW1, such minor
discrepancies do not touch the Justice or substance of the case and do not
amount to material contradictions and so cannot shake the cradibility of
the witness. He relied on the cases of ADEME v. ADERMU (2013) 45 WRN
52 at 57 and CIEAEUO v, FRN (2014) 25 WRN 135 at 161,
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It 'was argued that if there are any discrepancies aL alt in the testimony of
the Plaintiffe’ withess, they do not touch ihe substance of the case of
breach of contract between the parties. That the material issues in this trial
are that there was offer and acceptance between the parties, that there
was part consideration fumished by the Defendant to the Plaintiffs and that
there is also per r. ormance of the contracts by the Plaintiffs. That the
Plainfiffs tendered 12 documents in support of their case and none
contradicts the other. That the documentary evidence speaks louder than
oral evidence an the issues in contention and are preferred, He agdain Cited
in aid the case of VARO v. #ANYU (supra). That the evidence of the
Plaintiffs in this case are admizsible and that all the Plainkiffs’ de SCumentary
evidence were admitted with no abjection from the Defence.  That the
documents were relevant, credible and conclusive to the effect that the
contracts having been duly awarded were performed. That the evidence of
the Plaintiffs is more probable than that given by the Defendants, which in

fact did not give any evidence.

In further reply to the final written address of the Defendant, the Plaintiffs
arqued that although the Defendant alleged that there was clause 2.2 in
Exhibit P1, yet the Defendant went ahead and paid to the 1% Plaintiff the
15% maobilization of coniract sum, even when the 1% Plaintff did not fulfill
the obligation stated thersin, That this amaunts o a waiver on the part of
the Defendant of clause 2.8 of Exhibit P1. He relied on the cases of MG,
FORTS PLL. v. DUNCAN FMARITIME VERCOTURES (RIG.) LTD. (<011)
& WEN 55 at 92 and AUTO IMPORT £2(PORT v. ADEBAYO (supra).
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Let me poink ouk, immeadiately, that the above point of argument is a
muddle-up because by their shawing at paragraph 11 of the Statement of
Claim and paragraph 12 of the Statement on Oath of FW1, 15%

mobilization was never paid Lo the 1% Plaintiff.,

That clause 2.11 stipulates that the project site be accessible and that in
the present case, it is. That details of the specific location of the project
site was indicated in the letter of award of the contract which is already in

evidence.

That by virtue of clauze 2.9, the 1° Plaintiff gave enough notice of the
completion of the job to the Defendant via exhibit F7a; particularly
paragraph 4 thereof. This Court was urged to discountznance the
submission of the Defendani that Exhibit P7a is nok the same as what is
referred too in clause 2.9, That such submission is based on technicality,
whereas the genzral rule is that equity laols to the substance rather than
form. That the cases of LAMWAL v. ADESAYO \supra) and BFF GROUS
CORPORATION v. BPE (supra) cited by the Defendant in their final

written address support the case of the Plaintiff.

Learnad Plaintiffs” Counsel again arguéd that in line with clause 2.17 the 1%
Plaintiff submitted & Final Pepart through the aforementioned letters, Ha
urged this Court to discountznance the Defendant’s sn.nbmiés‘ion in
paragraph 3.13 of . their final written address. That the case of

BABINGTON ASHAYE v. E. N. 4. ENT. (NIG.) LTD. was cited out of

e
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It was the submission of Counsel, also, that by paragraph 3.15 and 3.16 of
the Defendant’s final writken address, the defendant is misrepresenting a
claim for breach of contract as one for special damages. That the Plaintiffs
case is a claim for breach of contract which is different from that of special
damages. He relied on the case of MAL8 INC, v. MMA (2013) 29 WRN 23
at 43, That the cases of MGILART V. MOTHERCAT (supra), MEKA B.E.E.
MANUFACTURING CO. LTD. v. ACE LT, (supra), SKFLL
PETROLEUM DEV. CO. LTD. v. TAESO VET (supra) and ADIM v. MEC

£TD. (supra) were citd out of cont=t and not relevant,

Learned Counsel also pointed out that paragraph 3-18 of the Defendant's
Final Written Address is a misrepresentation in that the Plaintiffs never
approbated and reprabated. That the Plaintiffs did nat anywhere in their
written address admit that the Defendant has any evidence before this
Court, nor did the Plaintiffs state that pleadings constitute evidence. That
the Plaintiffs merely canvassed that even if the Defendémt’s pleadings were

evidence, it was full of material contradictions.

Finally, learnad Counsel submitted again that the Defendant abandoned
their pleadings without calling avidence in support of the counter-claim and
that the purported counter-claim has failed. That a counter-claim is a
district action, totally different the present action.

In conclusion, he submitted that the Plaintiffs’ case has merit and urged

this Court to enter ju&lgement for the Plaintiffs, accordingly. SUDG S
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E-‘E.:ES}OLUTION OF THE ISSUES
Facts of the case.
The Plaintiffs are limited Iiézbility companies registered with the Corporate
Affairs Commission carrying on business as contractors in drilling  of
borcholes, etc. See Exvhibit PIOA and F10B, herein. By a letter daked
22/10/12, a contract was awarded by the Defendant via Exhibit P5 to the
1% Plaintiff for the construction of two complete pachage tonstituency
water prajects, namely:

1. Ahkpa Township for the sum of N9,500,000.00.

2. Abejukalo Commiunity for the sum of N9,500,000.00
The 1° Plaintiff accepted this offer via letter of acceptance dated the
5/11/12 (Exhibit P2)

A “Caonstituzncy Water Project Agreement” was

ecuted by the parties. See Evhibit P1. The 2™ Plaintiff was also awarded.

0

a)

contract on 25/12/2007 for the drilling of borchaolas, in two communities

JUDGE

FEDERAL HIGH COURT
LOK0DJA

See Evhibit P6. By Evhibit P3, the 2™ Plaintiff accepted the offer. The

as follows:

1. Efin Community for the surm of N12,500,000.00

2. Waja Community for the sum of N12,500,000.00

Defendant caused part consideration to be paid to the 2™ Plaintiif in the
sum of N14,750,000.00. The 2™ Plaintiff also admitted that mobilization fee
of 15% of the contract sum was paid to her while the 1% Plaintiff was not

given mobilization fee of 15%. The 1% and 2" Plaintiifs, basad on offer and

acceptance, commenaced worl on Hhe prajects. The 15 Plaintiff alleges that
the Water Project at the Anlps Township had been completed and handed

over o a Commithee of 5 members set up by the Defendant. The 1%
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Plaintiff alzo allzges that because maobilization of 15% was not paid to her,

it could nok commence waorl: at the Abejulalo Community Water Project.

~ The 2" Plaintiff allzges that the boreholes at Efin and Ulaja Communities
are almost completed and that the borchole ar Efin Community is already
in use because the community chicf provided a femporary source nl power
supply.  That the borehole ar Ulrl]d Community is almaost completad and
what remains is the procurement and installation of power generating set
and reticulation. The Plaintiffs thercfore claim the sum of N32,175,000.00

as the outstanding contract surm, N5,000,000.00 as damages/inflation for
the delayed payments and N2m being legal/professional fees incurred in
prosecuting this suit.  See the writ of summons and paragraph lél(i)(a)(b)
and (c) (i) = of 1:hé Statzment of Claim as well as paragraphs 17-20 of the
Statzment an Qath of Prince Abdullahi, A. A. Obaje, Plaintiff's withess (PW1

herein).

‘The Plaintiffe called 3

lone witness and tendersd twelve doc umentary
Exhibits in support of their case. The Defendant did not call any witness
even though the Defendant had filed pleac lings (Stakement of Defence) and

written Statements on Oath of two witnesses, He, however, thoroughly

crass-ewamined the Plaintiff's witness. | SUDGE
FEDERAL HIGH COURT
ISSUES FOR DETERMINATION | LOKDJA
Mvarn ez X000 —

Parties an bath sides, sach deposited three issues for determination. The

issues are similar and for reasons of coordinated articulation, the issues

formulated by the Defendant in her written address will be taken as issues
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for determination in this judgement. For eass of refe rence, T will copy the

said issues hereunder, again, as f«:»llovvs:

Issue 1:
. Whether the Defendant’s failure to call her witne SSES N suppart of
her ¢t7tcn7f3/7t of Defence automatically entitles the Flaintis to
Judgement on their claim.

. Whetheir on the state of the pleadings. the evidence and the extant
law. the FPlaintiffs have proved their case against the Defendant.

I Whethar the Defendant s not entitled to judgement on her countar-
claimn.

Learned Counsel for the Plulnllrf_. anawers Issue 1 in the affirmative. He
argued' that by not calling @Vld(«nu: in this matter, it shows that the
Defendant has no credible defence to this ackion and as such judgement be
entered in favour of the Plaintiffs. The learned Counsel tried o rely on
averments in the Statement of Defence to canvass that the Defendant has
contradicted herself by stating in one breath that three was ne contract
between the Plaintiffs and the Defendanis and in another, tacitly admitting
that there were contracts betwaen the parties and that u( )% of the cost of

the project was paid to the 2™ Plaingff,

But again, the Plaintiff's Counsel correctly stated the position of the law
that pleadings is not synonymous with evidence and so cannot be
construed as such in the determination of the merit ar otherwise of a case e;

and that pleadings cannal constitute avidence. Sec ATYEOLA v. PEDRO

(2014) (supra); ACK v. HARRISON (2012) (supra). JUDGE
| ~ { FEDERAL WIGKR COURY
D TR LOKOJIA
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It was also argued thak witness statemant on math not having been duly

75}
£

adopted and based on an abandoned statement of Defence cannot be
elevated o the level of affidavit evidence at all, See MBANEFO wv.
MOLOKUN (2014). That the Dfendant, therefore, has no evidence before

the Court to be weighed on the imaginary scala.

It appears, however, that the above position of the law has been taken
further as was evident in the Supreme Court decision in the case of
OMISORE v. AFEGBESOLA (2015) (supra), a case rited by the
Defendant’s Counsel.  In that case, the 3 Defendant did not call any
evidence before the trial tibunal but did cross examine the witnesses of
the Petitioners. The Supreme Court held, per Nwese, JSC, in his leading
judgement at page 251, that:

It remains to be added that it has long been settled that evidence

obtained in cross-examination on matters pleadaed, that is, on matters

on which jssues were joined (as was the case at the tribunal), is

adamissible.  In effect. the argument that third Respondent had no

- evidence before the trial Tribunal is incorrect.
The araument would have been impregnable ir the picces or evidence
Chief Awomalo. SAN. elicited rrom the Petitioners Witnesses in cross-

examination were not supported by the pleading of either party,

Furthermare, at page 299, His Lordship stated thus:

There was the complaint that the 3° Respondent — INEC did not call

ol

cledr dgself. There was no cause to call on the 37
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Respondent to call withe S It devasiated the evidence of the
Appeliants  through ross-o NAmination  which js a vital too) Jor

peiforating falsehood jf o Aroperly employed, as herein,

In similar vein, Ogunbiyi, JSC, in the same OMISORE case, at Pp.321-322
on the same point stated as follows:
It is trite [aw and well establishad that the ract ar non-calling or any
evidence by the 7 /’eu,p. ndent did noé arfsct bis case adversely, in
anv wav. In other words. by the \:= act or cross- examining the
witnesses of the pe litioners.  the 39 Respondent  had - given
evidence.... It s also an estaplishe d principle of law that where an
evidence /73:, been tharouahh: discredited during cross-examination
SO much so that there js p, othing left for purpose of welghing on an
Imaginan’ scale for considaratia an then such wilf certainly nead no
rebuttal. The two Jower Caurts. ror nstance, round the evidence or
PWI. PWIS and PU-3S upon which  the .lepe//ants rely, to be
unreliable,

In the present case, the Defendant filed Statement of Defence and also
cross-examined the Plaintiffs witness, FW12 on the issy 5 joined and
pleaded in the statement of Defence and indead the Statement of Claim.
See the record of proceedings of this Court in this case of 05/02/2016
wherein the PW1 toak his cath, adopted his Sta tement on Oath and
additional Statement on Qath, gave evidence-in-chicf and tendered 12
documentary Exhibits which were all, with no objection by the Defendant,

admitted in evidence. Thpn'eall_el, the PWi»vvas Cross-examined on the
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documents/Exhibits in line with the denial of the Defendant at paragraphs
9-12 of the Statement of Defence and the averments of the Plaintiffs at
paragraphs 1, 6, 19 of the Statement of Claim.

In essence, based on the fact that the Defendant filed a Statement of
Defence and did cross-eraming the Plaintiffs” Witness, PW1, in line with the
pleadings in the Statement of Defence and Stakement of Claim, T hold that
the Defendant has adduced avidence before this Court, By not calling the
carlier listed witnesses to adopt their written Statements on Qath, the
Defendant merely abandoned the Statements an Oath and discarded the

idea of calling those witnesses and I so hold.

In his reply address t the Defendant’s Written Address on Tssue 1, learnad
Counsel for the Plaintiffs submitted that the case of GMISORE V.
AREGBESOLA was distinquishable from the facts of the present case in
that in the QOMISOPE case, there were more than one Defendant and that
the cases of the other Defendants proved the cases of others who 5aw no
need to give further evidence. T do not agres with the above submission
of the Plaintiffs’” Counsel. This is because Hhe supreme Court was emphatic
in debunking the claim that the 2 Fespondent did not call evidence and so
it had no defence, when the Court held that the crass-evamination of the
witnesses of the Petitioners at the trial tribunal which accorded with issues
Joined and pleaded in the Statement of Claim and Statement of Defence of

the 3 Pespondent’ amounted to evidence in that case for the 3
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since T have held that the Defendant also, by virtue of his having cross-
evamined the PW1, has evidence before this Court in this case, it cannot
therefore, be the position that by the Defendant not having called
witnesses the Plaintiffs are automatically entitled ko judgement in their
favour. Issue 1 is therefore determined in the negalive  against the
Plaintiffs and in favour of the Defendant.
Issue 2 |
Whether on the state of the pleadings, the evidence and the extant
law the Flaintiffs have proved their case against the Derandant.
In the present case, the Flaintiffe have proved befare this Court Hhat there
evists a binding contract between the parties as pleaded and confirmed by
the PW1 and Exhibits P1, P2, P3, P4, P5 and P6. The Defendant did not
object b the admission of the above mentioned dacuments.  The
Defendant also did not cross-evamine the PW1 along the line of trying to

elicit evidence that there was no contrack betweaer the parties.

The Plaintiffs averred in their statement of claim that they have exscuted

o

the contracts to near completion but the Defendant has failed to honour
her obligation to pay o the Plaintiffs the outstanding contract sum. See

paragraphs 2-16 of the Statement of Claim and paragraphs 2-19 of th

g

witness written Statement on Oath of PW1.

The Defendant denies that the Plaintiffs have evecuted the contracts as no

such completed project has been handed over b the Defendant by the

o S5
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Plaintiffs as stipulated in the contract agreement.
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It is trite law that the burden of proof of a case is borne by he who asserts
the affirmative, in this case, the Plaintifis. See sections 131-133 of the
Evidence Act, 2011. It is also trike that mere agglomeration of facts or
averments in plzadings without Proof of the same with credible avidence,
especially, wherz such facts are not -u.lnnu.(,d in the Statement of Defence,

not proof of the facks, Tt is the bounden duty of the Flaintiffs ta prove
their case and naot rely on the weakness of the Def fendant's case, even
when the Defendant did naot lead evidencs. 5 See he cases of mvﬂzwa v.
AKIBY (1982) 7 SC (Peprint) 29, EZEMEA v. IBENENE (2004) 7 SC
(PT.1) 45 at A2; FEBSON FITNESS CENTRE v. CAPPA H.LTD (2015) 6
NWLP (PT.1455)263 at 284 C; FAGBU4ARD v, ANTMBARTT (2015 6 NWLR
(PT.1455) 358 at 372 G-H; OMios FEuEE v. LAWAR (1993) 7 SCNJ 246
at 255.

In the statement of Claim, the 1% Rlaintiff went to great length to state
facts showing that upon the award of the contract and acceptance of the
sarme, the 1% Plaintiff set to worl. That aven UluLll_.Jh the mobilization of
15% agreed upon was not made availabla to the 1% Plaintiff, it went ahead
and sourced money at evorbitant inkerest rate of 20% to commence and
complete the borehole at Ankpa Township and handed over the same to
the Defendant. The Defendant deniec these facts and during cross-
eramination of the Plaintiffs’” Witness was able o establish that ro such
completed project was ever handed aver fo the Defendant. This is because
the PW1 admitted uncler cross-examination that the contract agreement
Exhibit P1 did not mention anything in clauses 2.5 about the Defendant

setting up a committee, for taling delivery of the project whereas, at
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paragraph 10 of his Statement an Qath he stared that in compliance with
clause 2.5 of Exhibit P1, the Defendant sst Up a commitbes of & of the
comimunity members who were given the respons ibility of the supervision
and eventual management of the project upon completion. PWI1 also
admitted that none of the persons in Exhibit P9, the Committzes supposedly

set up by the D endant, was a Staff/Engineer of the Defendant.

This shows, as pointed oul by the Defence Counsel in his written address
and I agree with him, that the Plaintiffs unilater rally constituted the so-
called committee and handed aver the purported completad project to it
This is contrary to the kerms of the confrack agreement by the parties,
Exhibit P1 which was tenderad by the Plainkiffs whereby it was agreed that
the Contractor would diligently eveculs the project in accordance with the -
terms and conditions set forth therein. Moreover, clause 1.1(c) of the
Exhibit P1 alsc provides that “enginecr” shall mean the cduly dez«lgn ted
representative of the employer saddled with the duty to supervise the

project.

Under clause 2.9 of Exhibit P1, it is provided as follows:

When the contractor considers that the pre ject has been partially or
fully  completed and has  satisrac il met the terms or this
agreement. it shall ghe written notice, in that regard to the
emplover. If satisfiad, the employer shall issue a bc/l///baa or
completion in respect of the project or part thereor,

It is clear to me that, clause 2.9 stipulates that a written notice b given to

the Employsr ( Deﬁaruzlanl:) by the 1% Plaintiff upon completion or partial

completion of the project. Under cross examination, the PW1 on behalf of
f@\'ﬁia i < S .
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the 1* Plaintiff admitted that he did nok deliver any such written notice of
completion of job ko the D endant and that he did not also receive any
certificate of completion in respect of the project or part thereof,  PW1
admitted that he had no evidence to show ’l:he Court that the Plaintiffs
berfcumecl the contracts or that the payment made ko the 2 Plaintiff was
earned or otherwise justified. The PW1 explained that failure to abide )Y
the terms of Evhibit P1 was because it was nat the practice of the

Defendant to eniforce such contractyal Provisions

L L -

That in practice, ’vvlmenever, a contractor completed a project, such
contractor walld verbally inform the Defendant so and thal the Defendant
would send an Engineer to inspect the project and if satisfied with the job
dore the Defendant would pay the contractor by e-payment without
iIssuing any certificate of completion of job. FW1 stated further that it was
the |_»|d«;t|ce he met on ground at the Defendant’s system and that he

followed it.

Again, the 1% Plainkiff claims thar although there is provision in clause 2.8
of Exhibit P1 that the Contractar shall be paicdl 15% of the contract sum as
mobilization fee, such fee was not paid to the 15 Plaintiff up until the date
of filing this suit. A close look ak Exhibit F1, however, reveals that there is a
condition precedent to be fulfilled by the 15 Flainkiff before the mobilization
fee of 15% would be paid by the Dafene lant, to wit: an Advance Payment

Guarantee Bond from a reputable Banl: or Insurance Co mpany acceptabla

to the employer. ' SJUD G E
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“In the present case the 1% Plaintiff did not show to the Court evidence of

compliance with this condition precedent in order to enable it claim the

ncbilization fee of 15% as per paragraph 19(i) of Lhw Statement of Chnn

On the whole it appears glaring that the 1% Plaintff did not fallow the
terms and conditions of Exhibit P1, the contract agreament, in its bid to
claim outstanding contract sum for pr-:»jects allegedly executed by it Little
wonder that the Defendant is k=ft in doubk as to whether the 1 Plaintiff
evecuted the project at all or if executed, vvhél:her it was executed
according to specifications. The oral explanation of the PW1 that the
practicz of the Defendants was to accept verbal notice of ¢ sapletion of job

by a contractor and then goes ahead to pay the contract sum by e-

Q)

payment without issuing a certificate of job completion is at variance with
the clauses in Exhibit P1, & writken document. Tt is the law that parties are
bound by documents they have freely subscribed . See the case of
ALPHONSUS A. UDT vs. GOVT., OF AKWA IBOM STATE & 7 ORS
(2012) LPELR - 19727.

In that case, the Court of Appsal Far, Al.eju, JCA, on the above paint relied
on the decision of the Supreme Court of Migeria in the case of JIDO
WIEOYE-OBU v. MRPC (2003) FWLP (FL146) 95 at 1007, per Hiki Tobi,
- JSC, stated as follows:

A party who has openad his heart. mind and ey o enter into an
agreement Is clearly: bound by the terms of the agreement and he
cannot seek for better terms midstream or when the agreement is a
subject of litigation. when things are no longer at ease. Although a
party man ',sec?/c.ﬂ'g,‘ _bet[er terms. the Court is bound by the criginal
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terms of the agreement and will interpret them in the interesi oF
justice.

In the present case, the 1% Plaintff secks to contradict or vary the content
of Exhibit P1 by trying to read into it a verbal aevplanation.  That is not
permitted at law. In the case of UBO v. GOVT, OF AKWA IBOM STATE
(supra), Tine Tur, ICA, held that: |
No oral evidence mayv be adduced l'c». contradict, alter, add to or vary
the contents of Exhibit "0 (3 document). Sce UHION BAMK OF
NIG. LTD. v. OZIGI (7994) 2 SCNJ 41 and NADUMERE v.
ORAFOR '1996) <} SCNJ 71.
Similarly, in the case of BFF uROUP CORPORATION v. BUREAU OF
PUBLIC ENTERFRISES (2012) 7 SC (PT.111) 1; (2012) LPELF. - 9339
SC, the Supreme Court held, per Fabiyi, JSC, that:
When there is conflict in the evidence or witnesses 5, docuimentary
evidence will serve as a hanger on which the truth shall be resolved.
Documents tenderad as Exhibits are very vital as the VJo not embark
on falsehoad like some morial beings. See OLUJINLE v, ADEAGED
(1988) .2 NWLR (FT.”5) 238.
In the present case, this Court prefers B rely an Exhibit P1 which requires
the Contractor, 1% Plaintiff, to give a written ne »Lu e of completion of project
and the employer, the Dafendant, to give the certificate of completion of
job upon being satisfied, rather than the oral tes stimony of PW1 o the
effect that the 1% Plaintiff could give verbal nokice of completion of project
o the Defendant and the Defendant will also give verbal rec agnition of

_,,«»« -

completion of th; |nm]w“Lz.anLl not a written certificate to that effect and
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|:»'ay the contractor by e-payment. The PW1 also admitted that he did ot
present a final report on the project evecution to the employar as

stipulated in clause 2.17(1) of the Exhibit P1.

On the whaole it has been shown in the evaluation of the pleadings,

avidence and extant law in relation to proof of the case of he who asserts

the affirmative, the 15 Plaintiff in this case, that the 1% Plaintiff did not
comply with terms and conditions of the contract betwesn it and the
Defendant to entitle it & claim for the payment of the 15% of the contract
sum as mobilization fee or payment for the swecution of the project at the
Ankpa Township., The 1 Plaintiﬂ’ has not adduced evidence beforé this
Court that it has executed the contract and has not also shown, assuming
but not conceding that it did evecute the project, that it complied with the
procedure laid down to natify the Defendant of job completion and the

necessary report thereon and I so hold.

The Plaintiffs in paragraph 19(iii) alsa claim the refund of the sum of [M2m

against the Defendant being legal/professional fees incurrad in prosecuting
this action. With respect to the ISt'PIaintiFf, the Contract Agreement, Exhibit
P1, specifically states in clause 2.7 that the contractar shall dafend at its on
evpense any law suits, claims «:Iemancl‘ of any nature or kind arising from
any of its acts or omissions or its servants, agents or representative, during

tha pendency of this agreement.
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The wording of the clause is clear and unambiguous, The 15 Plaintiff
‘cannct claim the payment of N2m as legal/professional fees for prosecuting

this action and I so haold.

As regards the contract agresment between the 2™ Plaintff and the
Defendant, there is evidence of offer, acceptance and consideration. The
2" Plaintiff also avers in the Statement of Claim that it had been paid the
sum of N14,750,000 as part payment For the project and that the said
project has been executed up  to the level of 95% completion. The 2™
Plaintiff's witness PW1, admi&ecl under cross examination that he had no
evidence to shaw the Court that he executed the job and therefore carned
the part payment to him of N14,750,000.00. Learnsd Counsel for the
Deferdant argued that as the Defendant had no evidence to show the
Court that the Plaintiff carned payment of that sum of money to him, it

means that the payment of the N14,750,000.00 was not justified.

In the situation of the 2™ Plaintiff and the Defendant, there is no written
agreement presented before this Court in that regard. The PW1L had stated
under crass examination that Exhibit Po, the letter of contract award to the
2" Plaintiff reads at paragraph 2 that:

You will execute an Agreement containing all the details pertaining

to the Contract Award with the Authority .

In response ko the apove quoted paragraph - of Exhibit PG, the PW1 said -
that the Agreement was nat before the Court and that it must have been
lost in transit.
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PW1 stated that the sum of N1<,750,000.00 he received via E-hibit P4
from the Defendant was merited by the 2™ PFlaintff because the
Defendant’s officials inspected the various levels of the project and paid as
appropriate. He, however, admittad that he had nob shown to the Court
any document as evidence that the 2 Plaintiff worked for the money paid

to him.

There is no written agreement before this Court to enable the Court
decipher the nature of the terms and tulu”lllilul 5 governing the contract
between the 2™ Plaintiff and the Defendant lile we have in respect of the

contract between the 1% Plaintiff and the Defendant.

To my mind, however, it is not in doubt that a bir wWling contract exists
between the parties by virtue of Exhibits P6, F3 and P4, It is evident from
fhese Evhibits that thers was an offer (Exb. Po) to the 2™ Plaintiff who also

accepted  the offer via E-hibit P3 and the Defendant gave part

consideration as Per Exhikit P, By Exhibit P7B, it shows that the sum of

N14,750,000.00 which had baen paid to the 2™ Plaintff was not sufficient
for the avecution of the project. This much the PW1 stated during re-

examinakion.

The Defence C ~ounsel has argued thai the failure of the 2™ Plaintiff to
produce the agreement of 22 April, 2005, referred to in Exhibit P7B at
paragraph 3 thereof, L’»an a letter written by the Plaintiff's Counsel is self-
contradicting. He thub, involed Section 167 of the BEvidence Act, _'Ull, to
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submit. that the said agreement of 22704/

T2 I TS

2005 0P produced, would have

* been unfavourable to the 2™ Plaintiff,

The Learned Plaintiffe’ Counsel, in his Peply Address contended  that
wecution of an agreesment is not an absoluke requirement for a contract to
be binding on the parties. That section 167 of the Evidences Act, 2011 was

referred to out of context.

Well, Iv agree t|”lE|t‘Ol'|CP there ie offer, acceptance, consideration, capacity
to contract, and intention to enter into legal ralationship, it is sufficient
evidence that a contract evists between the parties.  See the case of
EMORT v, ESUKU (2013) 4 WRN 90 at 94 cikad by the Plaintifi's Counsel.
By paying to the 2" Plaintiff, mabilization fee and  other payments
amounting to the sum of Ni4,750,000.00 shows that there was
consideration and clear intention for the parties to enter into legal
relationship. Moreover, by Exhibit P4, the Defendant stated that the sum of
N14,750,000.00 paid to the 2" Plaintiff was about 60% of the contract
sum and that the balance of 40% would only be paid on confirmation of

the completion of ||’|P project

In the zaid Evhibit P4, the 2™ Plaintiff was cnjoined to endsavour o

There is no document from the 2™ Plainkiff giving an analysis of the status
of the project to the Defendant. The lztter written to the Defendant by the

2" Plaintiff's Solic itor, dated the “5/« /2014, is more like a demand letter
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and notice of intention to sue the Defendant if he failed to pay the

-outstanding contract sum.

I belizve that since it was the 2™ Plaintiff's Solicitor that made refel rence to
that contract agreement between the 2™ Plaintiff and the Defendar ant, and
yet did not tender it before the Court, it is a proper situation to invole
Section 167(d) of the Evidence Act, 2011, See the case of ONYWUJIUBA v.
OBIENU (1991) 4 NWLR (FT.153) 16 SC.

In essence, the 2™ Plaintiff has withheld the evidence, the contract
agreement, which could have assisted the Court in determining whether
the 2™ Plaintiff o omplied with the terms and conditions of the agreament in
exzcution of the contract. The 2" Plaintiff has also Failed in adducing
credible evidence to show to the Court that it indeed executed the project
- as the PW1 stated that he had no document to show o the Court that the

2™ Plaintiff had worked far the money paid to him.

The Defendant has denied that the 2™ Plaintiff evecutad the projects for

which part of the me 10N2y Was paid to the 2™ Plaintiff by the Defendant.

Therefore, T hold that the Plaintiff has not adduced credible evidence
befors this Court to prove his claim that the 15 and 2™ Plaintiffs evec Lited
the projects, and are thus entitlzd to claim the sum of M32,175,000.00 as
cutstanding contract sum and the sum of NSm as damages/inflation for
delayed paymenis and M2m as Legal/Professional fees fo or |»|ns.5ruting this
action. See MMC v. ALLT(2013). N U\BG'E
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Tezue No.2 iz determined in favour of the Defendant, against the Plaintiffs,
Having held that the Plaintiffs have failed to prove conclusively their case
as to enlitle them to the reliefs sought. T have also further looled at Exhibit
P1 and in clause 2.74(i) there is provision for termination of the contract
with 1% Plaintiff but there seems to be 3 mistale in the wording of the
clavze. T have alzo loobed at clauze 2.10. By clause 2.10, which provides
for termination of contract, Notice of 7 days iz required to be given to the
other party. In this case, there is no such notice emanating from one party
to the other. The Contract betwesn the 1% Plaintiff and rhe Defendant,
therefore, still subsists. Similarly, loaking at E-hibits P6, P3 and P4, the
Contract between the 2 Plaintiff and the Defendant still subsicts, The
parties, in my view,' will do well to lool: at Exhibit P1 and Exhibit P4 again
and go back to the round tabls in arder to resolve their dispute and 1 so
hold.

ISSUE 11X
Whether the Defendant is not entithed to Judgement: on her counter-

claim.

On this issue, the burden of proaf lies on the Defendant. Defendant
submitted that it is enfitled to judgsment on its counter claim. That the
Defendant had pointad out at pardgraph 3.7(v) of its final written address,
that the Plaintiff had admitted under cross evamination that it had nothing
to show for the sum of N14,750,000.00 paid to her by the Defendart.

That this admission has the effect of praving the Defendant's averment at

paragraph 5 of the Statement of Defence and paragraph 2 of the Counter
//\;,\’ PN Ce
P\
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Claim. He relizd on the case of ODF v, F YALA4, (2004)1 SC (PT.1) 20,
where the Supreme Court held that there is no better evidence against a
party than ane from a witnass called by him who gives evidence contrary

to the case of the party.

In the mare recent case than QODI's case, the Supreme Court, Per, NIFI
TOEIL, 1SC, in ODUTOLA v. PAPERSACI! NiG. LTD., (2006) 18 NWLR
(1012) 470 at 494 C-P, held that admission against interest, in order to be

valid in favour of the advarse party, must not only indicate or reflect the
material evidence beforz the Court, it must also vindicate and reflect the
legal position; where admission against interest does not reflect the legal
position it will be regarded as su,lperﬂuous. And a Court of law is entitled
not o assign probative value to it. In the present Case, the Defendant has
not shown how the admission of the 2™ Plaintiff with regard to Exhibit P4
vindicates the material evidence before this Court against him. Exhibit P4
shaws that payment was made to the 2™ Plaintiff by the Defendant for part
of the work done with a promise to pay the other part upon the completion
of the jab by the 2" Plaintiff. The admission of the 2" Plaintiff that it did
not have evidence before the Caurt to show that he earned the mone2y paid
to him is not conclusive evidence that the 2™ Plaintiff did not perfomt the
contract in the face of Exhibit P4 which emanated from the‘ Defendant.

See the case of ODUTOLA v. PAPERSACIK NIG. LTD. (2006) (supra).

To my mind, the Defendant has failed to adduce evidence sufficient to

prove his Counter Claim. See the case of ODOFIN v. MOGAJI (supra)
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whkere the Supreme Court listed the ingredients for determining which
- party has a better case, as follows:
Whez‘her the evidence is admissible..ralevant. credible... and

whether it is more pirobable than that given by the other party.

The Counter Claim, therefore, fails because the evidence relied upon by the

Defend; mL to prove it is not cone Iu~|vc and I sc hold.

Thiz shall be the judgement of this Court in this caze.
. NUDGE
SUDGY FEDERAL HIGK COURT
EDERRL HIGR €8T ___LOKOJ
\ LOKOJA 10i1. JUbllC Phozbe Fisusan Ayua
Judge

147 day of November, 2016
Parties: The parties are all abseht from Court.’
Appearances:  Sam Aloji, Esq., (with him, G. O. Salifu, Miss), for the

Plaintiffs and M. A. Bello, Esg., for the D~|c| dant
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on. Justica Pnoeb Msuaain A yua
Judge '
149" day of November, 016
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